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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 

1. Whether the determination that a transaction is domestic is sufficient for 
the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). 
 

2. Whether an employee who, at the insistence of a superior, inserts a false 
or misleading statement into investor materials, is subject to primary 
liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c), even if that individual is not the maker 
of the statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b) 
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STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS 
 

This case presents a question about the extraterritorial application and 

private litigant requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, 15 

U.S.C. §78u-4 and 15 U.S.C. §78t(e). The relevant text is reproduced in the 

appendix.   

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

Ava Cato (“Cato” or “Respondent”) is an Italian citizen and a bright young 

attorney who, upon graduation, was hired as General Counsel for Alcollezione 

(the “Company”), a wine and spirits venture, shortly after the business 

launched in 2009. (R. at 2). As General Counsel, Cato helped Alcollezione 

establish its headquarters in Milan, and had to familiarize herself with Italian 

regulations for beverage quality control (R. at 2). Gianni Marconi (“Marconi”), a 

renowned businessman who moved from New York to Italy in 2007, and Benny 

Factor (“Factor”), a highly successful former American financial executive who 

moved to Italy in 2009, founded and initially financed Alcollezione (R. at 2). 

Marconi and Factor became the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and 

Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) respectively (R. at 2-3).  

In 2011, Alcollezione did an initial public offering (“IPO”), listing 20,000 

shares of its common stock on the Italian stock exchange. (R. at 3). Marconi 

and Factor remained as majority shareholders. (R. at 3). With the capital raised 

from the IPO, the Company expanded its products to markets across Europe 

and into the U.S. (R. at 3).  Business boomed thereafter. (R. at 3).  
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 During 2016, Marconi, Factor and Cato (the “Executives”) traveled to 

New York for leisure. (R. at 3). One evening during the trip, they grabbed drinks 

with Factor’s old friends from his days as a senior financial executive, among 

which was Doris Schutt (“Schutt”), an investment banker at Hansen Bank and 

Trust (“HBT”), a New York depository institution. (R. at 3). Schutt suggested 

that Alcollezione consider forming a local subsidiary in the U.S. to stay abreast 

of American trends, or that Alcollezione should consider sponsoring an 

American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) to access the U.S. capital markets. (R. at 

3). Marconi rejected both proposals, as they “would require too much time in 

the U.S.” and “he no longer had the temperament for U.S. business.” (R. at 3).  

Later that year, Schutt told Marconi over the phone that her hedge fund 

friends were interested in buying into the Company, but that portfolio 

restrictions on trading on foreign exchanges prevented them from doing so. (R. 

at 4). She mentioned that she was considering setting up an unsponsored ADR, 

but wanted to check with the Company beforehand. (R. at 4). Marconi told her 

that he considered her a friend because of her relationship with Factor, but 

that he left such nuanced financial decisions to the CFO. (R. at 4). No further 

communication ensued regarding the ADRs; however, weeks later, HBT 

unilaterally filed Form F-6 to register the unsponsored Alcollezione ADRs as 

required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”). (R. at 4). 

The ADRs traded over-the-counter (“OTC”) and hedge funds in New York and 

Connecticut purchased them via phone with the help of HBT employees. (R. at 

4). 
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In 2017, ahead of the Company’s Annual Shareholder Meeting (“Annual 

Meeting”), in a meeting between the Executives, Marconi suggested the launch 

of a new product, a spiked mineral water, which he later named 

“Frizazantissimo.” (R. at 4-5). The regulatory parameters of the new product 

were not clear, so Cato told Marconi that she needed to do some research to 

ensure that the drink would comply with Italian regulations around alcoholic 

sparkling beverages. (R. at 5).   

Marconi created his slide deck for the Annual Meeting during the weeks 

leading up to it, with the announcement of Frizzantissimo as the cornerstone of 

his presentation. (R. at 5). As an experienced businessman, he anticipated that 

institutional investors would require assurances regarding the product’s 

regulatory compliance (R. at 5). Cato, after doing a diligent research 

assessment, stressed to Marconi that the product’s compliance with 

regulations “seemed unlikely in the short-term” and that “it would be an uphill 

climb,” even though it may be possible in the long-term. (R. at 5). Marconi, 

however, remained steadfast, insisting, that “these sort of things always find a 

way of getting resolved,” that “it was better to ask for forgiveness than 

permission,” and that he “could handle the PR stuff if there [was] blowback.” 

(R. at 5). Cato remained visibly skeptical, but he pressed her again saying: 

“Listen, this is happening with or without you.” (R. at 5).  

Relying on her superior’s experience and reassurances, Cato went ahead 

and drafted assurances that the product was to be approved and ready for 

market in the second quarter of 2018. (R. at 6). She condensed the assurances 
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into a disclosure that was inserted into Marconi’s slide deck and footnoted in 

Factor’s pro-forma financial statements. (R. at 6).   

At the Annual Meeting, Marconi delivered his slide deck, announced the 

launch of Frizzantisimo, and passed along copies of the pro-forma financial 

statements. (R. at 6). The investors and shareholders were impressed, as the 

stock (and the ADRs) soared over 8% in after-hours trading, and continued to 

trend upwards through early winter 2018. (R. at 6). Alcollezione posted the 

slide deck and financial statements on its website’s Investor Relations section 

along with a video of the announcement, and an accompanying press release. 

(R. at 6).  

On March 14, 2018, management was informed that all production of the 

Frizzantissimo would have to halt, effective immediately, due to noncompliance 

with beverage regulations. (R. at 6). The stock and ADR price subsequently 

tumbled by nearly 29% and 27% respectively. (R. at 6). As of the filing of the 

hedge fund managers’ claims in the District of Fordham, neither Italian or 

European authorities had commenced investigations of the matter. (R. at 6-7).  

On August 14, 2018, the hedge fund managers that purchased 

Alcollezione ADRs in the U.S. between the Annual Meeting and March 12, 2018 

(collectively, the “Petitioners”) commenced an action against Alcollezione and 

the Executives in the District of Fordham (R. at 7). Petitioner’s claims alleged 

that the Executives committed securities fraud in violation of Section 10(b) of 

the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 (R. at 7). On September 2018, Petitioners 
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settled their claims against Alcollezione, and only the claims against the 

Executives remained. (R. at 7).  

On October 17, each executive filed a motion to dismiss, denying 

involvement in a domestic transaction within the purview of the Exchange Act, 

and asking the court to dismiss the securities fraud claims on the merits. (R. at 

7). Cato and Factor further moved to dismiss the claims against them asserting 

that the Petitioners failed to adequately allege a primary violation of Section 

10(b) because neither of them was the “maker” of the statements. (R. at 8). 

Factor separately moved to dismiss for failure to plead sufficient facts to give 

rise to a strong inference of scienter as required for a Section 10(b) claim, 

which the District Court subsequently granted on November 21, 2018. (R. at 8). 

The District Court, however, found that the Executives were involved in a 

domestic transaction sufficient for Section 10(b) to apply extraterritorially, and 

rejected Cato’s argument that she could not be primarily liable under 10b-5(a) 

and (c). (R. at 8). Marconi then settled with the Petitioners for an undisclosed 

amount. (R. at 8). Cato filed an interlocutory appeal with the Fourteenth 

Circuit, arguing (1) that the court erred in finding that a domestic transaction 

is sufficient to apply Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 extraterritorially, and (2) 

erred in finding that she was subject to primary liability despite not being the 

“maker” or the disseminator of the misstatements. (R. at 8).  The Fourteenth 

Circuit reversed the lower court’s opinion, holding that the Section 10(b) claims 

here were impermissibly extraterritorial and that Cato was not subject to 

primary liability. (R. at 9).  
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a plaintiff’s 

complaint “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a 

claim for relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 

(2009) (“The plausibility standard is not akin to a "probability requirement," 

but it asks for more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted 

unlawfully.”) A district court’s dismissal for failure to state a claim is reviewed 

de novo. Graham v. Bayne, 59 U.S. 60, 63 (1855); see Wormser v. Mulligan, 104 

F.4th 267, 271 (14th Cir. 2018); see also Crystallex Int’l Corp v. Petroleos De 

Venezuela, S.A. 879 F. 3d 79, 83 n. 6 (3d Cir. 2018).  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
 

The Fourteenth Circuit’s decision below correctly determined that a 

domestic transaction is necessary but not sufficient to apply Section 10(b) to a 

foreign issuer. This Court has made abundantly clear that Section 10(b) has no 

extraterritorial application, thus, it applies to foreign claims only where there is 

a domestic application of the statute. Yet, the presumption against 

extraterritoriality is not a “craven watchdog that retreats to its kennel” 

whenever some domestic activity is involved, rather the claims must touch the 

U.S. with sufficient force to displace the presumption. It follows that Section 

10(b) claims can surely be impermissibly extraterritorial even if based on a 

domestic transaction, especially in light of the potential conflict between U.S. 

and foreign law, which Morrison recognized, that may emerge from applying 

U.S. securities laws to predominantly foreign conduct clearly regulated abroad.  
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The location of the transaction cannot be the only determining factor, as 

that may result in an application of Section 10(b) that expressly contradicts 

Morrison’s presumption against extraterritoriality. To state otherwise, would set 

out a dangerous precedent that may allow plaintiffs to use the territory of the 

U.S. to unilaterally impose liability on foreign issuers that deliberately chose 

not to transact in or access the U.S. securities markets.  

Even if Petitioner’s claims warranted a domestic application of Section 

10(b), the private litigant requirements should be read narrowly to protect the 

important distinction between primary and secondary violations of the 

securities laws, which deter frivolous and abusive lawsuits. Private plaintiffs 

have consistently sought to expand the universe of potential defendants under 

§ 10(b). However, this Court and Congress have consistently acknowledged the 

importance of upholding the uncontroversial conclusion that only the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) can bring a claim for secondary 

violations.  

In the alternative, if the Court holds that the Petitioner sufficiently 

expands liability under § 10(b), the statutory text gives no indication that 

Congress meant to prohibit any conduct not involving manipulation or 

deception. Moreover, the heightened requirements to plead and prove both 

reliance and scienter precludes the Petitioner from being liable under § 10(b).  

For these independently sufficient reasons, Petitioners failed to state a 

claim upon which relief could be granted. We respectfully ask that this Court to 

affirm the judgment of the Fourteenth Circuit.  
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ARGUMENT 
 
I. CONSISTENT WITH MORRISON, A DOMESTIC TRANSACTION ALONE 

IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO APPLY SECTION 10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE 
ACT EXTRATERRITORIALLY  

 
The Fourteenth Circuit correctly held that Morrison’s presumption 

against extraterritoriality firmly supports the finding that a domestic 

transaction alone is not sufficient to apply Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act to 

a foreign issuer.    

A. Morrison Prohibits the Extraterritorial Application of Section 10(b)   

In Morrison, this Court confirmed “the longstanding principle of American 

law that legislation of Congress, unless a contrary intent appears, is meant to 

apply only within the territorial jurisdiction of the United States." Morrison v. 

Nat’l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 255 (2010) (citing EEOC v. Arabian 

American Oil Co. (Aramco), 499 U.S. 244, 248 (1991)). Following that principle, 

and after finding “no affirmative indication in the Exchange Act that § 10(b) 

applied extraterritorially” this Court “concluded that it does not” Id. at 265. The 

presumption, however “applies in all cases” and it “preserves a stable 

background against which Congress can legislate with predictable effects.” Id. 

at 261. 

To overcome the presumption against extraterritoriality courts must 

consider the “focus” of the statute at issue, to determine whether the case 

involved a domestic application of the statute. Id. at 273; see WesternGeco LLC 

v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2137 (2018) (affirming that “the 

focus of a statute ‘is the objec[t] of [its] solicitude, which can include the 
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conduct it ‘seeks to regulate,’ as well as the parties and interests it ‘seeks to 

protect’ or vindicate.” (quoting Morrison 561 U.S. at 267)). This Court held that 

Section 10(b)’s “focus” is on “transactions,” so the statute would only reach 

fraud “in connection with the purchase or sale of a security listed on an 

American stock exchange and the purchase or sale of any other security in the 

United States” (“Transactional test”). Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266–67, 273 

(quoting 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)).  

Nevertheless, this Court in Morrison clearly stated that the presumption 

against extraterritoriality is a powerful one, not a “timid sentinel” nor a “craven 

watchdog” that “retreat[s] to its kennel whenever some domestic activity is 

involved in the case.” Id. at 266. (noting that it is a “rare case of prohibited 

extraterritorial application that lacks all contact with the [U.S.]”); see RJR 

Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. 2090, 2116 (2016) (stating that if 

the conduct relevant to the focus of the statute “occurred in a foreign country, 

then the case involves an impermissible extraterritorial application regardless 

of any other conduct that occurred in U.S. territory.”). Accordingly, the Court 

denied the application of Section 10(b) to claims that “[i]nvolved no securities 

listed in a domestic exchange and all aspects of the purchases complained of 

[by the plaintiffs] occurred outside the [U.S.],” despite the fact that some 

conduct related to the alleged fraud took place in the U.S. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 

266, 273. 
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 Consistent with Morrison, this Court should continue to deny 

Petitioner’s request to allow Section 10(b) to have a limitless reach solely based 

on the presence of a domestic securities transaction irrespective of the 

predominance of foreign conduct, the interference with securities regulation in 

foreign nations, and the effect on foreign exchanges.   

B. Claims Under Section 10(b) Can Be Impermissibly Extraterritorial 
Even If Based On A Domestic Transaction 

 
The Second Circuit in Parkcentral Global Hub Ltd. v. Porsche Automobile 

Holdings, SE, addressed Morrison’s “transactional test,” and held that a 

domestic transaction is necessary, but not sufficient to state a “properly 

domestic claim” under Section 10(b). 763 F.3d 198, 215 (2d Cir. 2014) (stating 

“first” that the Court “never said that an application of §10(b) will be deemed 

domestic whenever such transaction is present.”) (citing  561 U.S. at 267)); Cf. 

Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 949 (9th Cir. 2018) (holding that a 

domestic transaction alone is sufficient to apply Section 10(b) extraterritorially 

“because the court [must examine only] the location of the transaction.”). 

Parkcentral adopted a multi-factor analysis that considers not just the presence 

of a domestic transaction but also the extent to which “the defendants are 

alleged to have sufficiently subjected themselves to the statute.” Parkcentral, 

763 F.3d at 217.  

In Parkcentral, the Section 10(b) claims were brought by international 

hedge funds that bought and sold securities (swap agreements) in the U.S. that 

were pegged to the price of shares of a foreign company that traded exclusively 

on foreign exchanges. Id. at 201, 206–207. The claims alleged that the 



TEAM R04 

11 
 

defendant, a German corporation and major shareholder in the foreign 

company, made false statements “primarily in Germany” (although some 

statements “were made into the US or were available here”) that affected the 

price of the foreign company’s stock and, thus, the fund’s swaps,  Id. at 201, 

204-207. The plaintiffs did not allege that the defendant “was party to any 

securities based swap agreements [pegged to the stock of the foreign company] 

or that it participated in the market for swaps in any way.” Id at 204-207. In 

light of these facts, and even though the swap agreements “may have been 

concluded domestically,” the court held that “the relevant actions in [the] case 

[were] so predominantly German” that the complaints failed to “invoke §10(b) in 

a manner consistent with the presumption against extraterritoriality.” Id. at 

216.   

As the Second Circuit reasoned, the “potential for incompatibility 

between U.S. and foreign law” is a “predominat[ing]” factor in determining 

whether the application of Section 10(b) is impermissibly extraterritorial. Id. at 

217; see Microsoft Corp. v. AT&T Corp., 550 U.S. 437, 455 (2007) (noting that 

”while courts should “presum[e] that [U.S.] law governs domestically[, it] does 

not rule the world,”); Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co., 569 U.S. 108, 116, 

(2013) (“the presumption against extraterritoriality” helps prevent the adoption 

of “an interpretation of U.S. law that carries foreign policy consequences not 

clearly intended by the political branches.”). Such emphasis on avoiding 

conflict with foreign law is supported by the notion that “if an application of the 

law would obviously be incompatible with foreign regulation, and Congress has 
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not addressed the conflict, the application is one which Congress did not 

intend.” Parkcentral, 763 U.S. at 216–17 (stating a “corollary” of Morrison’s 

conclusion that “if an extraterritorial application of federal law would likely be 

incompatible with foreign law, and that application was intended by Congress, 

Congress would have addressed the conflict.” (citing 561 U.S. at 269)).  

Even though there is a split in authority, the Second Circuit recently 

affirmed Parkcentral and is not the only circuit where it has been applied. See 

Prime Int’l Trading, Ltd. v. BP P.L.C., 937 F3d 94, 106 (2nd Cir. 2019) (applying 

Parkcentral’s analysis to claims stemming from the Commodities Exchange Act, 

and finding that they were “predominantly foreign,” and thus “impermissibly 

extraterritorial,” where the “plaintiffs traded [securities in the US] pegged to the 

value of another asset[,] the underlying assets were foreign[,] and the alleged 

misconduct was entirely foreign.”); Giunta v. Dingman, 893 F.3d 73 (2d Cir. 

2018) (applying Parkcentral in finding that the plaintiff’s Section 10(b) claims 

were not “impermissibly extraterritorial” where the defendant, a U.S. citizen, 

was party to the domestic transaction, and the allegedly fraudulent conduct 

occurred in the U.S.); Eng v. AKRA Agric. Partners, No. 516-CV-00994, 217 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 215952, at *4-8 (W.D. Tex. Aug. 9, 2017) (applying Parkcentral in 

finding Section 10(b) claims “not so predominantly foreign” when the alleged 

fraud in the U.S. was done to induce agreement with defendants in the U.S. to 

invest in a U.S. company).   

While the Second Circuit has upheld Absolute Activist’s “irrevocable 

liability test” for finding a domestic transaction, in that case, since the 
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defendants were clearly involved in U.S. markets, the court was instead 

concerned with preventing them from escaping liability based on when and 

how they executed their out-of-exchange transactions, which directly involved 

the plaintiffs. Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 63, 67.  Nowhere did Absolute 

Activist address whether a domestic transaction was sufficient for a domestic 

application of Section 10(b). Thus, extending the “irrevocable liability test” to 

impose liability based on a domestic transaction alone (which plaintiffs can 

unilaterally execute), despite having predominantly foreign claims, 

misinterprets the concerns that the test originally sought to address and risks 

undermining the presumption against the extraterritorial application of Section 

10(b). Prime Int’l Trading, 937 F3d at 105 (holding that the court “need not 

decide definitively whether Plaintiffs' transactions satisfy Absolute Activist, for 

their claims are impermissibly extraterritorial even if the transactions are 

domestic.”); See RJR Nabisco, 136 S.Ct. at 2101 (recognizing that if “‘all the 

relevant conduct’ regarding [the] [alleged] violations ‘took place outside the 

United States’ we do [not] need to determine, as we did in Morrison, the 

statute’s focus.’” (quoting Kiobel, 569 U.S. at 124)). 

The Fourteenth Circuit was correct in following Parkcentral, consistent 

with this Court’s precedent, and holding that a domestic transaction is 

necessary but not sufficient for section 10(b) to apply domestically. This is 

especially apparent when contrasted with the Ninth Circuit’s interpretation 

that only the location of the transaction ought to determine whether a court 

should apply the statute extraterritorially.  
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C. For a Domestic Transaction Alone to be Sufficient to Apply Section 
10(b) to a Foreign Issuer Contradicts Morrison’s Presumption 
Against Extraterritoriality  

 
The Ninth Circuit in Stoyas v. Toshiba, expressly rejected Parkcentral, 

and instead interpreted Morrison’s transactional test to require courts to 

strictly consider “the [geographic] location of the transaction” to determine if 

there is a domestic application of Section 10(b). 896 F.3d 933, 949 (9th Cir. 

2018) (applying the Second Circuit’s “irrevocable liability test,” which considers 

whether “irrevocable liability'' was incurred or “title to the securities ‘passed 

within the [U.S.].’”) (quoting Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 

677 F.3d 60, 69 (2d Cir. 2012)). Under the Ninth Circuit’s misguided holding, 

“there must be a domestic transaction” “[f]or the Exchange Act to apply” and “it 

does not matter that the foreign [defendant] was not engaged in the 

transaction.” Id.  

The court in Toshiba, however, overlooked the notion that applying 

Section 10(b) any time a claim involves any domestic transaction, “regardless of 

the foreignness of the [underlying] facts,” would “seriously undermine 

Morrison’s insistence that § 10(b) has no extraterritorial application.” 

Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215 (citing Morrison, 561 U.S. at 269); see Kiobel, 569 

U.S. at 108, 125 (noting that when “all the relevant conduct took place outside 

the [U.S],” under Morrison, “even where the claims touch and concern the 

[U.S.], they must do so with sufficient force to displace the presumption against 

extraterritorial[ity].”). As the Second Circuit warned, such a rule “would require 

courts to apply the statute to wholly foreign activity clearly subject to 
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regulation by foreign authorities solely because a plaintiff in the [U.S.] made a 

domestic transaction, even if the foreign defendants were completely unaware 

of it.” Parkcentral, 763 U.S. at 215; See Microsoft Corp. v. AT&T Corp., 550 U.S. 

437, 455 (2007) (“foreign conduct is generally the domain of foreign law.”).   

This Court has expressly “reject[ed] the notion that the Exchange Act 

reaches conduct in this country affecting exchanges or transactions abroad” 

because “the probability of incompatibility with applicable laws of other 

countries is so obvious that if Congress intended such foreign application ‘it 

would have addressed the subject of conflicts with foreign laws and 

procedures.’” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 269 (noting that “’like the [U.S.], foreign 

countries regulate their domestic securities exchanges and securities 

transactions occurring within their territorial jurisdiction,’” and such 

regulation ‘“often differs from ours’” in various important respects (quoting 

Aramco, 499 U.S. at 256)). Congress is well aware of its ability to address the 

extraterritorial applicability of the Exchange Act, thus if it wanted to clearly 

express its intent for Section 10(b) to have such a limitless extraterritorial 

reach in the context of private-right of actions, it would have done so already. 

See Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 § 

929P(b)(1), Pub. L. No. 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376, 1864 (2010) (codified at 15 

U.S.C. § 77v(c)) (defining the scope of extraterritorial application of §17(a) of the 

Exchange Act for enforcement actions, soon after Morrison was decided).   

Lastly, the Ninth Circuit read Morrison as principally intending to 

establish a bright-line rule for addressing extraterritoriality issues. Toshiba, 
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896 F.3d at 950 (suggesting that “Morrison [particularly] endeavored to 

[establish] a clear and administrable rule.”). However, this Court’s precedent 

has clearly established that, under Morrison, “even when claims” are based on 

foreign acts, but “touch and concern the territory of the [U.S.], they must do so 

with sufficient force to displace the presumption against extraterritorial 

application.” Kiobel, 569 U.S. at 124. As Judge Leval points out, determining 

whether the claims “‘have sufficient force’” to overcome the presumption 

against extraterritoriality, “is not a question susceptible to resolution by any 

bright-line, single factor test.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 220 (Leval J., 

concurring) (noting that especially in the context of Section 10(b) fraud claims, 

“bright-line rules (unless seriously over-inclusive) would permit unscrupulous 

securities dealers to design their transactions [. . .] so as to stay [. . .] outside 

the reach of the statute.”).  

Perhaps even more worrying is the fact that under Toshiba’s analysis, 

Section 10(b) becomes applicable even to companies, like Alcollezione, that 

purposefully declined being listed in a U.S. exchange, transact in the U.S., or 

enter the U.S. securities market in any way, to avoid being subject to U.S. 

securities regulations. Under such bright-line rule, bank depositories who 

purchase shares of companies trading exclusively on foreign exchanges, by just 

creating and selling unsponsored ADRs in the U.S. referencing the stock of 

those companies, can unilaterally1 impose liability even when the companies 

 
1 See Additional Form F-6 Eligibility Requirement Related to the Listed Status 
of Deposited Securities Underlying American Depositary Receipts, Securities 
Act Release No. 8287, Exchange Act Release No. 48,482, 68 Fed. Reg. 54,644- 
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had no intention to participate in the U.S. securities market. But see In re: 

Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Marketing, Sales Practices, and Products Liability 

Litigation, No. 2672 CRB, 2017 WL 66281 at *5 (Jan. 4, 2017) (Holding 

defendant subject to the U.S. Exchange Act because, by sponsoring an ADR 

program, defendant “took affirmative steps to make its securities available to 

investors here in the U.S.”) 

Accordingly, and just as the Fourteenth Circuit held, this Court should 

continue to follow Parkcentral’s multi-factor analysis, and once again find that 

Petitioner’s claims are impermissibly extraterritorial. This particularly because, 

like the defendant in Parkcentral, the Petitioner here has not alleged that Cato, 

an Italian citizen, “was a party” to any domestic transaction in the 

unsponsored ADRs referencing Alcollezione’s stock, “ that she participated in 

the market for unsponsored ADRs in any way,” or that she was even aware of 

the existence of the ADRs. Id. 763 F.3d at 207. Although the transactions in 

ADRs “may have been concluded domestically,” the Alcollezione stock 

referenced did not trade on U.S. exchanges, but rather traded exclusively on 

foreign exchanges. Id. Petitioner’s Section 10(b) claims concern statements 

made “primarily” in Italy “with respect to stock in an [Italian] company traded 

only on exchanges in [Italy]. Id. at 216. And the allegedly false statements “were 

 
45 (Sept. 17, 2003) (noting that an unsponsored ADR is “essentially a two-party contract 
between the depositary and the ADR holders,” and “is established by the depositary acting on 
its own.”)  
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made into or available in the US,” although only through the Alcollezione’s 

website. Id. 204-207. 

Nevertheless, even if Petitioner’s claims warranted a domestic application 

of Section 10(b), this Court should read the private litigant requirements 

narrowly to protect the important distinction between primary and secondary 

violations of the securities laws, which deter frivolous and abusive lawsuits.  

II. THE FOURTEENTH CIRCUIT CORRECTLY HELD THAT CATO’S 
REGULATORY ASSURANCES ARE NOT ACTIONABLE UNDER SECTION 
10(B) AND RULE 10B-5 

 
 Section 10(b) makes it unlawful “to use or employ . . . any manipulative 

or deceptive device or contrivance” in connection with the purchase or sale of a 

security. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated there under contains 

three subparagraphs that diagrams categories of such manipulative or 

deceptive devices: (a) fraudulent schemes or artifices, (b) fraudulent 

misrepresentations or omissions, and (c) fraudulent practices or courses of 

business. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 do not explicitly 

create a private cause of action; however, the Supreme Court has consistently 

acknowledged an implied right for private litigants to bring suit. Halliburton Co. 

v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc., 573 U.S. 258, 267 (2014).  

 Under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, the Supreme Court has restricted the type 

of defendants and conduct giving rise to private litigation, particularly with 

respect to primary and secondary violators. Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. 

First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164 (1994); see Stoneridge Inv. 

Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 148 (2008); see also Janus 
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Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 135 (2011). Further, the 

heightened standards for private plaintiffs requires litigants to plead and prove 

scienter and reliance with particularity. 15. U.S.C. §78u-4(b)(2)(A). The 

Fourteenth Circuit’s holding is consistent with Supreme Court precedent, the 

intent of Congress, and the heightened pleading standards for private plaintiffs 

and should be affirmed.  

A. Private Securities Litigants Cannot Bring Section 10(b) and Rule 
10b-5 Claims Against Secondary Actors  
 

1. Supreme Court Precedent Controls the Narrow Scope of an Implied 
Private Right of Action 

 
The Supreme Court has indelibly shaped the contours of §10(b) and Rule 

10b-5 liability. In Central Bank of Denver, bondholders sued various entities 

involved in a bond issuance that defaulted on $26 million in bonds, including 

the indenture trustee. Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 167. The bondholders 

contended that the trustee substantially assisted the primary violators by 

delaying an independent review of an appraisal that would’ve accurately 

portrayed the collateral. Id. at 168-169. The Court held that private securities 

litigants cannot bring Rule 10b-5 claims against secondary actors who aid and 

abet a primary actor. Id. at 177. In Stoneridge Inv. Partners, investors of a 

company argued that the suppliers and customers were liable under §10(b) for 

allegedly participating in the company’s accounting fraud “with the purpose 

and effect of creating a false appearance of material fact to further a scheme to 

misrepresent revenue.” Stone Ridge Inv. Partners, 552 U.S. at 160. The Court 

held that since there were no public statements to investors, private plaintiffs 



TEAM R04 

20 
 

cannot assert claims against secondary actors for “scheme” liability to plead 

around Central Bank of Denver. Id. at 148.  

The Supreme Court further defined private plaintiffs potentially liable 

under Rule 10b-5 and Section 10(b) in Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First 

Derivative Traders. 564 U.S. at 135. In Janus, fund investors claimed that the 

fund’s investment adviser should be held liable under Rule 10-b5(b) for 

misstatements in a prospectus filed by the investment fund. Id. The Court held 

that under 10b-5(b), only the “maker” of a false statement – defined as the 

“person or entity with ultimate authority over the statement, including its 

content and whether and how to communicate it” – can be subject to primary 

liability. Id. at 145. The investment adviser did not make the statements in the 

prospectus; therefore, it was not primary liable. Id. at 148. The decision 

maintains the narrow scope of an implied right of action. Id. at 142-144.  

Following Janus, the SEC brought an enforcement action against an 

investment banker who sent an email to investors authored and directed by his 

boss that contained statements about his only client account the banker knew 

to be false. Lorenzo v. Securities & Exchange Commission, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 

1099 (2019). The Supreme Court held that the “dissemination of false or 

misleading statements with an intent to defraud can fall within the scope of 

subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5 … even if the disseminator did not ‘make’ 

the statements” and is therefore not liable under Rule 10b-5(b). Id. at 1094. By 

sending emails he understood to contain material untruths, the investment 
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banker violated the scheme liability provisions of Rule 10b-5 subsections (a) 

and (c).  

The Lorenzo decision does not alter the holdings of Central Bank, 

Stoneridge, and Janus. The Supreme Court emphasized that Janus would 

remain relevant because it still applies where a person "neither makes nor 

disseminates false information—provided, of course, that the individual is not 

involved in some other form of fraud." Id. at 1110. Additionally, the Supreme 

Court recognized that Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) capture a wide range of conduct 

and applying them "may present problems of scope in borderline cases." Id. at 

1101. The Court however noted that the present case was not itself borderline, 

because Lorenzo, with scienter, "sent false statements directly to investors, 

invited them to follow up with questions, and did so in his capacity as vice 

president of an investment banking company." Id. at 1096. Lorenzo’s conduct 

fit squarely within the provisions of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) unlike Cato. It is 

undisputed that Cato is not the maker nor the disseminator of the regulatory 

assurances. Unlike the investment banker in Lorenzo, Cato also did not send 

her assurances directly to investors and invite them for follow up questions. 

Instead, she drafted regulatory assurances after being assured by her boss, an 

experienced businessman, that it would be resolved when she voiced her 

concerns over the regulatory provisions. Cato also did not sign her assurances 

in any official capacity. Instead, her assurances were inserted into her boss’s 

slide deck and in a footnote in the company’s financial statements. Therefore, 

the record fits squarely within the facts of Janus and any theory of liability 
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against Cato is secondary at most. Expanding Cato’s conduct to fit within 

Lorenzo would be an expansive reach of the Court that would blur the line 

between secondary and primary liability.  

The Lorenzo decision is an SEC enforcement action and the distinction 

between primary and secondary liability mattered less there than it does for 

private litigants. This has been proven by the Supreme Court pushing back 

hard against attempts to erase the distinction between primary and secondary 

liability matters. By allowing Lorenzo to control private actions, it would allow 

litigants to repackage their secondary liability claim as primary liability 

contrary to Supreme Court precedent.  

2. Congress Intends to Uphold the Primary-Secondary Distinction 

Following the decision in Central Bank, Congress enacted the Private 

Securities Litigation Reform Act (“PSLRA”).15 U.S.C. §78u-4. PSLRA expressly 

provides that only the SEC has the right to sue those who allegedly aid and 

abet securities violations, not private litigants. 15 U.S.C. §78t(e). By enacting 

PSLRA, Congress effectively ratified the Supreme Court’s conclusion that 

private litigants cannot maintain claims for aiding and abetting violations of 

§10(b). The act establishes rules designed to discourage frivolous and abusive 

lawsuits. Id.  

The statutory language of 15 U.S.C. §78t(e) states that an individual that 

substantially assists another individual’s primary violation cannot also be 

primarily liable for that violation. Thus, Congress rejected proposals to overrule 

Central Bank and expand the scope of private civil liability under § 10(b) to 
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secondary actors. The language of PSLRA with respect to secondary liability 

mirrors and reinforces that of existing Supreme Court precedent, which 

indicates that it was the intent of Congress to only authorize only the SEC to 

take action against those subject to secondary liability. Section 20(e) restored 

the SEC’s ability to bring actions for aiding and abetting against anyone who 

“knowingly or recklessly provides substantial assistance to another person” in 

a violation of the federal securities laws after Central Bank. Section 20(e) did 

not restore the ability of private plaintiffs to bring aiding and abetting claims. 

The Fourteenth Circuit was mindful that it must give narrow dimensions to a 

right that Congress did not authorize when it enacted the statute.  

While PSLRA did reduce frivolous lawsuits to some extent, the continuing surge 

in private securities fraud actions suggests that excessive litigation remains a 

serious problem. See Stephen J. Choi, The Evidence on Securities Class Actions, 

57 VAND. L. REV. 1465, 1492–93 (2004). This is evidenced by a 44% increase 

in private securities law suits filed in 2017 from 2016.2 Private securities fraud 

actions, if not adequately contained, can be employed abusively to impose 

substantial costs on companies and individuals whose conduct conforms to the 

law. See Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inc. v. Dabit, 547 U.S. 71, 81 

(2006). By not following Congressional intent and Supreme Court precedent, 

the Court will exacerbate this issue by obscuring the line between primary and 

secondary liability. Therefore, the Court should affirm the judgment.  

 
2 See Jonathan Stempel, “A Lawsuit a Day: U.S. Securities Class Actions Soar,” REUTERS 
(Jan. 29, 2018),https://www.reuters. com/article/us-stocks-classaction/a-lawsuit-a-day-u-s-
securities-class-actions-soar-idUSKBN1FI2FM.  
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B. In The Alternative, Cato’s Conduct Does Not Fit Within the Holding 
of Lorenzo  

 
Assuming for purposes of argument that Lorenzo does apply to private 

litigants, the Petitioner will need to allege and, ultimately prove that Cato’s 

conduct sufficiently makes her a disseminator and would therefore hold her 

primarily liable under subsections (a) and (c). The Petitioner would need to 

comply with the heightened pleading standards of PLSRA. 15. U.S.C. §78u-

4(b)(2)(A). 

The statutory text of Rule 10b-5 supports the position that Cato cannot 

be found liable under Lorenzo. Subsection (a), uses the language that only 

conduct that “employs any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud.” Rule 10b-

5(a). The act of knowingly disseminating a false statement at the behest of its 

maker, without more, does not amount to “employ[ing] any device, scheme, or 

artifice to defraud” within the meaning of those provisions. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. 

at 1107. Drafting fraudulent regulatory assurances at the direction of her boss 

to be delivered at an Annual Meeting, however, is not a knowing or intentional 

practice. In fact, the Lorenzo court expressly provides that a Petitioner needs 

more deceptive conduct than knowingly disseminating a false statement at the 

behest of a maker. The investment banker in Lorenzo sent follow up emails and 

signed his email as vice president of the investment banking company. Cato’s 

assurances were confined to drafting them and adding them to her superior’s 

slide deck and footnoted into financial statements. Cato merely passed on the 

information to her superior and did not personally disseminate them to 

investors.  Cato voiced her concerns about the assurances and was told that “it 
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would happen with or without her.” (R. at 5). The petitioner argues that the 

Company posting the regulatory assurances imbedded into her superior’s slide 

deck and financial statements constitutes dissemination. However, the extent 

of the alleged “dissemination” was Cato drafting statements and sending them 

to her superior to disperse. Additionally, Cato’s assurances were not personally 

signed unlike the investment banker in Lorenzo.   

Further, named intentional practices such as “short selling scheme, a 

wash sale, a matched order, price rigging, or similar conduct” do not fall within 

Cato’s conduct. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1107. The Petitioner does not allege any 

conduct that falls within this language.  By holding Cato liable under this 

provision, it would be an expansive overreach of the statutory language, 

inconsistent with case law. See Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 212-

14 (1976) (holding that the Court  is limited by the language of the statute and 

by the Court’s caselaw construing it).  

Subsection (c) is covers “engaging in any act, practice, or course of 

business which operates or would operate as fraud or deceit”. Rule 10b-5(c). 

The only fraudulent conduct alleged are misstatements, the focal point of 

subsection (b). Lorenzo sent false statements directly to investors about his 

only client account, invited them to follow up with questions, and did so in his 

capacity as vice president of an investment banking company. Lorenzo, 139 S. 

Ct. at 1097. The Court held this was a “paradigmatic example” of an individual 

who should be held liable for securities fraud. Id. Cato’s regulatory assurances 

are distinguishable because she drafted them at the insistence of her superior 
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and gave him ultimate authority over the dissemination of the assurances. It 

was noted that the assurances would happen “with or without her” by her 

superior and that her woes about compliance would work themselves out. (R. 

at 5.) Given her superior’s experience and success in past ventures, it is 

reasonable that Cato would draft the assurances. Further, Cato was not a 

majority stakeholder in the company. (R at 3). Therefore, as general counsel, 

there was no financial incentive for her to commit fraud. The investment 

banker in Lorenzo’s false statements were drafted about his only client 

account. This is not a “paradigmatic example” of securities fraud described in 

Lorenzo. According to the Lorenzo Court, going forward, “purpose, precedent, 

and circumstance” will clarify the scope of liability between the two extreme 

scenarios of actors tangentially involved in disseminating and actors such as 

the investment banker in Lorenzo. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1104. Lorenzo’s 

conduct is an example of the core, intentionally fraudulent conduct that 

Congress and the Commission sought to prohibit in the securities laws and 

regulations. It cannot be compared to Cato, a recent graduate, who was 

assured by her boss, an experienced and proven businessman, that the 

regulatory compliances “will work themselves out.” (R. at 5.) 

If Cato’s conduct falls within the language of Section 10 (a) or (c), the 

elements of a private action are: (1) a material misrepresentation (or omission); 

(2) scienter; (3) a connection with the purchase or sale of a security; (4) 

reliance; (5) economic loss; and (6) loss causation. Dura Pharms., Inc. v. Broudo, 
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544 U.S. 336, 341-342 (2005). At issue here are the scienter and reliance 

elements.  

PSLRA requires that private plaintiffs plead with particularity facts raising 

“a strong inference” that a defendant acted with an intent to deceive and must 

demonstrate reliance. 15. U.S.C. §78u-4. See also Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. at 

187 (1976).  In Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., shareholders of a 

corporation brought a securities fraud action claim against an officer for 

allegedly deceiving the public concerning the value of the corporation’s stock. 

Tellabs v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 313 (2007). The Supreme 

Court held that, “while the shareholders' allegations plausibly permitted an 

inference of the requisite scienter, further analysis was required to determine 

whether the inference of fraudulent intent was a powerful or cogent inference 

which was at least as compelling as any opposing inference of nonfraudulent 

intent.” Id.  The Court held that a “strong inference” is “more than merely 

plausible or reasonable — it must be cogent and at least as compelling as any 

opposing inference of nonfraudulent intent.” Id. The Court in Tellabs 

established the following prescriptions: (1) must accept all factual allegations in 

the complaint as true; (2) courts must consider the complaint in its entirety; 

and (3) the court must take into consideration plausible opposing inferences. 

Id. at 313.  Taking the prescriptions into consideration, the Petitioner has not 

made a “strong inference.” At most, by showing that she drafted regulatory 

assurances at the insistence of her boss, it shows that it was merely plausible. 

Her conduct shows that she was skeptical of the regulatory assurances and 
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that her boss had complete authority over them and whether they should go to 

investors. The Supreme Court did not address the scienter element in Lorenzo 

because he did not dispute the lower courts’ findings that he acted with 

scienter. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1100. However, the requirement to plead and 

prove scienter against secondary actors imposes a heavier burden on private 

plaintiffs. To say that the Petitioners met this burden would impose significant 

leeway for private plaintiffs to abuse individuals whose conduct conforms to the 

law. 

Any rebuttal that Petitioner offers does not show that Cato’s conduct was 

more than merely drafting statements. The Lorenzo court reiterated that private 

plaintiffs cannot bring suit against defendants “based on undisclosed 

deceptions upon which the plaintiffs could not have relied.” Id. at 1104. Cato 

did not disclose any deceptions upon the plaintiffs. Instead, her superior added 

them to his slide deck for the Annual Meeting and on the financial statements. 

The company added her superior’s statements to the website. The fraud on the 

market doctrine, provides a rebuttable presumption of reliance on public 

statements about a company whose stock trades in an efficient marketplace 

because public statements are presumed to be reflected in the stock’s market 

price. See Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, 573 U.S. 258, 268 (2014). 

However, this is not available on alleged “schemes” or other forms of deceptive 

conduct. See Stone Ridge Inv. Partners, 552 U.S. at 159-62.  
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Further, the PSLRA contains a safe harbor provision that heightens the 

pleading requirements for forward-looking statements. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5(c). A 

plaintiff alleging that a forward-looking statement contains a misrepresentation 

or omission must establish a "strong inference" that the statement was made 

with actual knowledge by the speaker that the statement was false or 

misleading. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5(c)(1)(b). Since the regulatory assurances are 

likely to fall under managements plans or objectives for future operations, the 

plaintiff must prove this standard. Cato did not have actual knowledge of the 

misstatements being false or misleading because she was assured by her 

superior they were not.  

The Southern District of New York in In re Longfin Sec. Litig., applied 

Lorenzo to go survive a motion to dismiss against a broker-dealer that 

“facilitated” a securities offering despite knowing shares were improperly 

issued. No. 18-CV-2933, 2019 WL 1569792 at *19 (S.D.N.Y. April 11, 2019). 

The Court held that the plaintiffs met the PSLRA pleading requirements 

because it was shown that the broker-dealer knew the shares were not validly 

purchased but proceeded in order to gain financially. It also alleged that the 

broker dealer was provided a list of shareholders that exhibited the shares to 

be out of compliance because of insider trading. The Petitioners do not offer the 

requisite scienter as shown In re Longfin Sec. Litig. Instead, they only provide 

that Cato voiced her concerns to her superior after doing diligent research and 

was re-assured by her highly successful and experienced superior that it would 

work out. The broker dealer in In re Longfin Sec. Litig. had sufficient 
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information regarding the violations of the shares and an incentive for financial 

gain. There was no indication of financial gain for Cato. Additionally, the court 

did not analyze whether plaintiffs had adequately plead reliance. Thus, missing 

an essential element in private litigation suits. Therefore, Cato’s conduct does 

not fall within this holding.  

  In SEC v. SeeThruEquity, the Southern District of New York held the SEC 

adequately alleges the "scheme liability" claims under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c). 

Securities and Exchange Commission v. SeeThruEquity, LLC, No. 18 Civ. 

10374, 2019 WL 1998027 at *13 (S.D.N.Y. 2019). However, the conduct is 

distinguishable from Cato because her regulatory assurances  were drafted and 

sent to her superior who had control over the materials given to investors. The 

defendants in SeeThruEquity had an entire business model, beyond 

misstatements or omissions. Id. at 14. To allege that Cato’s conduct is 

comparable to an entire fraudulent business model would go far beyond the 

scope of the Lorenzo court. The Court should affirm the judgment that even if 

Lorenzo does apply, it does not fit squarely within the facts of this case and the 

Petitioners did not meet the heightened pleading standards of PLSRA.  

CONCLUSION 
 

For the reasons stated herein, Respondents respectfully request this 

Court to affirm the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the 

Fourteenth Circuit. 

Respectfully Submitted, __________________/s/ 

Team R04 Counsel of Record for Respondents
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APPENDIX 1 
 

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (2012): 
 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of means 
or instrumentality of 18 interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of 
any national securities exchange -- (b) To use or employ, in connection with the 
purchase or sale of any security registered on a national securities exchange or 

any security not so registered . . . any manipulative or deceptive device or 
contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission 

may prescribe . . . 
 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2012): 
 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any 

facility of any national securities exchange, (c) To engage in any act, practice, 
or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit 
upon any person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 
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APPENDIX 2 
 

15. U.S.C. §78u-4(b)(2)(A) 
 

Except as provided in subparagraph (B), in any private action arising under 
this chapter in which the plaintiff may recover money damages only on proof 
that the defendant acted with a particular state of mind, the complaint shall, 
with respect to each act or omission alleged to violate this chapter, state with 
particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted 

with the required state of mind. 
 

15 U.S.C. §78t(e)  
 

Prosecution of persons who aid and abet violations For purposes of any action 
brought by the Commission under paragraph (1) or (3) of section 78u(d) of this 
title, any person that knowingly or recklessly provides substantial assistance to 

another person in violation of a provision of this chapter, or of any rule or 
regulation issued under this chapter, shall be deemed to be in violation of such 

provision to the same extent as the person to whom such assistance is 
provided. 

 


